0/A 1-8-88

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 70,526

GLADYS CAROL HUTCHINSON,
Respondent.

BRIEF OF THE PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

GARY O. WELCH
Assistant Attorney General
1313 Tampa Street, Tuite 804
Park Trammell Building
Tampa, Florida 33602

OF COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

/tms

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

GLADYS CAROL HUTCHINSON will be referred to as the "Respondent" in this brief. The STATE OF FLORIDA will be referred to as the "Petitioner". The record on appeal will be referred to by the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent plead noto contendere to the possession of methamphetamine and possession of drug paraphernalia. (R 94) In doing so, the respondent reserved the suppression issue for appellate purposes. (R 94)

On appeal to the Second District Court of Appeal, the respondent obtained a reversal of the judgment and sentence. The grounds for reversal were the denial of the motion to suppress by the trial court.

Petitioner sought discretionary review by filing a notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court. Jurisdictional briefs were filed and the court entered an order accepting jurisdiction on September 25, 1987. It is from this posture that the instant case comes before this Court.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The petitioner accepts the facts in the opinion of the District Court for the purposes of this petition. The facts of the case as stated in the opinion reported at 505 So.2d 579 at 580 are as follows:

The chain of events culminating in the search began when the assistant manager of a supermarket, Jerry Geisler, observed the defendant shopping in the store using a shopping Geisler testified that his suspicions were aroused by the fact that the defendant had an unusually large purse lying in the cart. He described it as like a small airline bag, two feet across and six or eight inches wide. Continuing to observe the defendant while she shopped, Geisler became convinced that the defendant was engaged in shoplifting and called the police. When Officer Jerbie Bryan arrived in response to Geisler's call, the defendant had not yet left the store. Bryan advised Geisler to go back inside the store and when the defendant exited, to follow Meanwhile, Bryan remained in the parking The defendant exited the lot and waited. store pushing a grocery cart containing her purchases, followed by Geisler. Geisler pursued the defendant to her car while Officer Bryan pulled his patrol car up to the defendant's car. Geisler indicated to Officer Bryan that the defendant was removing articles from her purse and hiding them underneath the seat of her car.

Bryan testified that he walked up to the defendant's car and advised her that she was suspected of shoplifting, which she vehemently denied. Officer Bryan said that "we" requested to look in her handbag and that she "just started taking stuff out." He further testified that there were little zip-up bags, cloth bags, in the large bag and that the defendant would open some of these small bags and others she would not, laying these aside. During this process, Sergeant Robert Walker drove up and started observing what was going on. When the defendant completed the process of

emptying her handbag and opening some, but not all, of the small bags, Officer Bryan said "now, let's go back and open all of them." He said the defendant picked up one particular small bag and unzipped it and zipped it back up real quick. Sergeant Walker's interest focused on that bag and he asked the defendant what was in it. She would unzip it and zip it back up. Sergeant Walker asked her a couple more times "what's in the container in the The defendant said nothing; she just handed the bag to Sergeant Walker. When Walker opened up the bag, he found that it contained a white substance. Officer Bryan was then reminded of seeing a jar in another bag and he went back and looked in that bag again. Upon further examination, Officer Bryan found a white substance in that bag also.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

A criminal defendant's consent to search must be voluntary. A consent is not voluntary if it is the product of duress or coercion. When consent is given in the absence of circumstances which would make a reasonable person to believe that he did not have the ability or entitlement to refuse law enforcement's request to search, the consent is the product of the defendant's free will; and as such, volitional.

The above standard requires a factual determination. On review, such a factual determination is viewed in a light most favorable to the appellee and with all inferences that can be reasonably made from such facts which would accrue to the appellee's benefit. Having done so, the reviewing court must determine whether such a view provides legally sufficient evidence that consent given was voluntary and not the product of coercion or duress. The respondent's actions, which were the product of her own thoughts and the absence of any overreaching by law enforcement provide this factual basis.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

RESPONDENT CONSENTED TO THE SEARCH.

Article I, \$12, of the Florida Constitution provides that search and seizure law in this state is to be construed in conformity with the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution, as interpreted by the United States Supreme Court. In Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218 (1973), the United States Supreme Court held that whether there is lawful consent is to be determined by the totality of the circumstances. Totality of circumstances was further discussed in a confidential informant setting in Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213 (1983). In Gates, the court stated that a reviewing court should not perform a de novo review; but rather, should give deference to the court who made the initial finding of probable cause. This Court has for all practical purposes recognized the deference to be given to the trial court's factual determination by reviewing the trial court's holding in a light most favorable to the record evidence which supports the trial court's ruling. See McNamara v. State, 357 So.2d 410 (Fla. 1978).

The facts of this case are undisputed for the vast majority of events. After being called by the retailer, law enforcement approached the respondent and requested to look into her handbag. Thereafter, respondent started removing items. After opening various bags within her purse, respondent was asked about a particular bag. The respondent then handed that bag to law

enforcement. When viewed in the totality with deference to the finding of consent below, there are sufficient facts upon which the trial court could conclude that the act of handing the bag to law enforcement was a manifestation of a consent. As such, the trial court's denial of the motion to suppress should be affirmed on appeal. To the extent that the Second District's opinion states that the state failed to meet its burden of showing that consent was freely and voluntarily given; it has in substance reweighed the evidence and has not restricted its scope to mere sufficiency of evidence which would support the trial court's ruling contrary to Gates, supra, and McNamara, supra.

Petitioner would analogize the above position to that of a claim of insufficiency of evidence to support a criminal conviction when raised on appeal. Whereas due process requires that the state meet the "beyond a reasonable doubt standard" at trial, the scope of review on appeal is solely legal sufficiency without a reweighing of evidence by the appellate court. Tibbs v. State, 397 So.2d 1120 (Fla. 1981). In Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307 (1979), The United States Supreme Court recognized the deference to be given the finder of fact when it stated:

"... a federal habeas corpus court faced with a record of historical facts that supports conflicting inferences <u>must presume</u> -- even if it does not affirmatively appear in the record -- that the trier of fact resolved any such conflicts in favor of the prosecution, and must defer to that resolution."

To any extent that there is evidence which suggest acquiescence, this evidence must be discounted to the extent the objective acts

of the respondent suggest voluntary consent. On appeal, it must be presumed that these acts of voluntary consent were found to be credible by the trier of fact and that the evidence of acquiescence was not. Since there are facts which are sufficient to support a finding of voluntary consent, an appellate court should defer to these findings.

Petitioner would suggest that respondent's act of handing the bag to law enforcement is analogous to the facts in United States v. Pulido-Basqueriz, 800 F.2d (9th Cir. 1986). In Puido-Basqueriz, the defendant placed his briefcase onto an airport xray machine conveyor belt. Having done so, the Ninth Circuit stated that this was implied consent absent an election not to fly before there was a further search. Sub judice, the facts show an initial consent to a search of the items in the hand-If appellant wished to restrict or withdraw her consent, she must be held to a duty to make an affirmative act which is consistent with this position. Compare Nelson v. Pulliam, 557 F.2d 426 (5th Cir. 1977). Further, respondent's act of handing the bag to law enforcement is an additional fact in support of consent. Puido-Basqueriz, supra, and Palmer v. State, 467 So.2d 1063 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1985).

To the extent the Second District's opinion find a acquie-scence in the absence of coercion or duress to be insufficient for a finding of a waiver, it has adopted the higher standard required of a waiver applied by the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeal in <u>Bustamonte v. Schneckloth</u>, 448 F.2d 699 (9th Cir. 1971). This

was specifically rejected in <u>Schneckloth v. Bustamonte</u>, supra, where the diametrically opposite was found to be applicable. That being: the absence of duress or coercion is evidentiary support of consent. Admittedly, acquiescence to implied authority to search, absent consent, is not a voluntary consent to the search. <u>Bumper v. North Carolina</u>, 391 U.S. 543 (1968). However, the record clearly shows that law enforcement ask for permission without any showing of force or a suggestion that a denial would not be respected. To require more, such as informing the respondent that she had a right to refuse, is contrary to Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, supra, where the Court stated:

One alternative that would go far toward providing that the subject of a search did not know he had a right to refuse consent would be to advise him of that right before eliciting his consent. That, however, is a suggestion that has been almost universally repudiated by both federal and state courts, and, we think, rightly so. For it would be thoroughly impractical to impose on the normal consent search the detailed requirements of an effective warning. Consent searches are part of the standard investigatory techniques of law enforcement agencies.

The respondent spontaneously started taking items out of her purse upon law enforcement's request. Law enforcement was lawfully present. Petitioner submits in such a setting consentual inquiry cases such as <u>I.N.S. v. Delgado</u>, 466 U.S. 210 (1984), provide the following direction:

While most citizens will respond to a police request, the fact that people do so, and do so without being told they are free to respond, hardly eliminates the consensual

nature of the response. Cf. Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218, 231 - 234 (1973). Unless the circumstances of the encounter are so intimidating as to demonstrate that a reasonable person would have believed he was not free to leave if he had not responded, one cannot say that the questioning resulted in a detention under the Fourth Amendment.

I.N.S. v. Delgado, at 216

Applying the above, petitioner submits, the scope sub judice is whether the circumstances, when viewed in a light most favorable to the petitioner were so intimidating that a reasonable person would not have believed he could refuse law enforcement's request Applying that standard, the facts sub to search the purse. judice do not project a setting whereby apparent authority to search would vitiate the consent that was manifested by respondent's acts. The instant case is factually different to that of Florida v. Royer, 460 U.S. 491 (1983). In Royer, the United States Supreme Court determined that law enforcement's approach of a criminal and the request for his airplane ticket did not violate the Fourth Amendment. However, the majority opinion expressed the belief that the extent of the intrusion had amounted to the equivalent of an arrest since law enforcement did not return his airline ticket and asked him to accompany them to Thereafter, the Court concluded that the subseanother room. quent consent was tainted by the unlawful arrest. Royer at However, the Court agreed with the state's argument that had consent been obtained within the limits of the investigative detention, the consent would have been valid. Royer at 502. Sub judice, the consent was with a no greater showing of authority by

law enforcement than that in <u>Royer</u> and was within the time and place boundaries of an investigative stop. As such, the consent was fully given without limitation or recantation and the respondent's search was lawful. <u>Royer</u>, supra.

CONCLUSION

Based on the above stated facts, arguments and authorities, Petitioner would ask that this Honorable Court affirm the judgment and sentence of the lower court.