DA 1-8-88

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

1987

RECORDED
m

STATE OF FLORIDA,
Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 70,526

GLADYS CAROL HUTCHINSON,
Respondent

BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

MARSHALL G. SLAUGHTER
Attorney at Law
Post Office Box 226
Bartow, Florida 33830

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent, GLADYS CAROL HUTCHINSON, accepts the Statement of the Case outlined by Plaintiff in Plaintiff's Brief on the merit, with the addition that a Notice of Nolle Prosequi was filed in the Tenth Judicial Circuit on May 13, 1987.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

IF A YOUNG LADY IS ACCOSTED IN A DARK PARKING LOT BY TWO UNIFORMED POLICEMEN, AND A CIVILIAN WHO IS SHOUTING THAT SHE IS A THIEF, IS NOT TOLD WHAT SHE IS SUSPECTED OF STEALING, IS NOT INFORMED OF ANY OF HER RIGHTS, AND SHE SUBSEQUENTLY OPENS SOME ZIPPERED BAGS FROM HER PURSE, BUT NOT OTHERS, HAS SHE CONSENTED TO A GENERAL SEARCH?

Plaintiff's initial argument is, in essence, that an appellate court has no power to reverse a trial court's decision no matter how incorrect, capricious, or unjust it may be, if there is anything at all in the record that could in any way support it. Fortunately, that is not the law, else why have appellate courts? Trial judges are human and they do make mistakes. Schneider v. State, 416 So.2d 475 (Fla. 2d DCA, 1982). Their decisions must be supported by substantial competent evidence. There is no evidence to support a conclusion that Ms. Hutchinson consented to a search of her bags.

Florida v. Royer 460 So.2d 491, 75 L Ed. 2d 229 (1983) is a valid example of the state of the law on this point, as well as being analogous to the instant case. Ms. Hutchinson was, in effect, under arrest from the initial contact with the police, because Officer Bryan testified that she was not going to be allowed to go anywhere until she had opened every bag in her purse (R. 27). This was made doubly offensive by Bryan's testimony that there was no probable cause to arrest Ms. Hutchinson prior to Officer Walker's

opening of the film canister (R. 26).

Florida v. Royer, supra, further holds that where consent is offered as justification for a warrantless search, the burden is on the State to prove that consent was freely and voluntarily given. That burden is not met by showing mere submission to a claim of lawful authority, and that is all that was shown by the testimony in the case at hand. Accord, U.S. v. Lopez-Pages, 767 F. 2d 776 (11th Cir. 1985); U.S. v. Chemaly, 741 F. 2d 2346 (11th Cir. 1984); Raffield v. State, 362 So. 2d 138, 140 (Fla. 1st DCA, 1978).

Plaintiff argues that the Second District Court of Appeals impermissibly reweighed the evidence in reaching its decision. It is submitted that a reviewing court must examine the evidence in a case to determine whether or not the trial court has met the essential requirements of the law, and to determine whether the trial court's rulings are supported by the evidence Dean v. State 406 So. 2d 1162 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1981), cert. denied, 413 So.2d 1877 (Fla. 1982). That does not mean that the evidence is reweighed. In the case at hand, there is no evidence to sustain a finding of consent to the search, unless the self-serving statements of the officers that they thought she consented to the search are considered evidence, but their testimony does not present the "strong circumstances" necessary to "qualify as an acceptable alternative to the preservation of the constitutional rights of citizens" Bailey v. State, 319

So.2d 22 (Fla. 1975). Bailey, like the case at hand, involved the search of a cosmetics bag (with the testimony as to consent in conflict) held that the mere conclusions of a searching officer were insufficient to establish consent. Bailey goes on to hold that even though the District Court of Appeal had affirmed on the ground that it could not substitute its judgment for that of the trial court, the Florida Supreme Court could not agree, and reversed.

Similarly, the Court in Samuels v. State, 318 So.2d 190 (2nd DCA 1975), held that while ordinarily the appellate court should not substitute its judgment, it is essential for the hearing court to determine that the evidence is clear and convincing. In the instant case, the trial court did not give any reasons for its decision, it only said, "The court will deny the motion" (R. 47).

The testimony of the officers clearly illustrate that there was no free and voluntary consent, because they had to tell her three times that they wanted to look into the bag, and she then reluctantly handed it over (R. 30).

A distinction is recognized in the law between submission to the apparent authority of a law enforcement officer and unqualified consent. Mere acquiescence in a search is not necessarily a waiver of a valid search warrant. Rather, for a person to waive his search and seizure rights, it must clearly appear that he voluntarily permitted or expressly invited and agreed to the search. Bailey v. State, 319 So.2d 22 (Fla. 1975); Tolovera v. State, 186 So.2d 811 (Fla. 2d DCA 1966) . . . we therefore hold that the Defendant did not validly consent to the warrantless search.

Major v. State, 389 So.2d 1203 (3rd DCA

1980).

It must clearly appear that a person voluntarily permitted or expressly invited and agreed to the search Correa v. State, 389 So.2d 1204 (3rd DCA, 1980). This showing must be by clear and convincing evidence Norman v. State, 379 So.2d 643, 647 (Fla. 1980).

Major, supra, also shows that even if, arguendo, some consent is given, the scope of the search may be limited. Thus, as in the instant case, where Ms. Hutchinson opened some zippered bags and not others, she clearly evidenced that she was not freely and voluntarily consenting to a search, much less to a general search, Taylor v. State, 355 So.2d 160 (3rd DCA 1978).

In U.S. v. Milian-Rodriguez, 759 F.2d 1558 (11th Cir. 1985), the court specifically held that:

A suspect's consent can impose limits on the scope of a search in the same way as do the specifications of a warrant. The government may not use consent to a search which was initially described as narrow as license to conduct a general search.

- at 1563.

And in State v. Worgin, 418 So.2d 1261 (4th DCA 1982):

"A person may, of course, limit his consent during the course of the search by some verbal or physical act indicating the withdrawal of the conduct" at 1263.

This concept of limited consent is not new in Florida law, as evidenced by Sagorrias v. State, 39 So.2d 252 (Fla.

1956), wherein the court held that even though the Defendant there had consented to a search of his car's trunk, he had not extended his consent to the interior of the car and packages inside.

Americans have a Constitutional right to be secure from unreasonable searches and seizures; it is a fundamental and cherished liberty, Tolovera v. State, 186 So.2d 811 (2d DCA 1966). One of the main impetuses of the emigration of people from other lands to America was the abuse of tyranny that can result when police have an unfettered right to search without a warrant. And that is why American courts have established the rule that searches conducted without the prior approval of a judge or magistrate are per se unreasonable, subject to certain exceptions, U.S. v. Marshall, 452 F. 2d Supp. 1282, (U.S.D.C. S.D. Fla. 1978).

The burden of proving consent is a heavy one, "even verbal agreements to accompany an officer who requests a search should be scrutinized exceptionally closely to ensure a complete absence of coercive influence", U.S. v. Lopez-Pages 767 F.2d 776 (11th Cir. 1985) at 780. Marshall supra, defined consent as "assent without coercion", and also noted that a person may limit the scope of the consent to search which he gives, and iterated that the purpose of these rules was to prevent police from using a subterfuge to reconnoiter a protected area. Accord, Engle v. State, 391 So.2d 245 (5th DCA 1980).

Plaintiff argues that the case at hand is analogous to that of U.S. vs. Pulido-Basqueriz, 800 So.2d _____ (9th Cir. 1986). Respondent would submit that voluntarily placing a briefcase on an airport X-Ray-machine conveyor belt is in no way similar to handing over a cosmetic bag to a policeman who is demanding to look inside it.

Plaintiff states that if Ms. Hutchinson wished to restrict her consent to the search, she should have done an affirmative act consistent with that position. It is submitted that unzipping some bags and not others, and only handing over the bag in response to repeated requests, is an affirmative act.

Where there is a doubt about whether a Defendant consented to search, it must be resolved in the Defendant's favor, Robinson v. State, 388 So.2d 286 (1st DCA 1980).

Clearly, once Ms. Hutchinson went through her purse once, and nothing incriminating was found, the order of Officer Walker that she go back through again, and open up everything, was police misconduct, and the search was illegal (R. 29, 30). There was no consent, and the officers should have sought a search warrant if they wished to search her bags, Silva v. State, 344 So.3d 559 (Fla. 1977).

The fact that Ms. Hutchinson was not aware of her right to refuse a search:

Another factor indicating consent was not voluntarily given is the failure of (the officer) to inform (the Defendant) of his right to leave and not to consent to the search. Such knowledge

or lack thereof is a factor to consider in determining voluntariness - U.S. v. Chemaly, 741 F.2d 1346 (11th Cir. 1984), at 1353.

Accord, Jordan v. State, 384 So.2d 277 (4th DCA 1980), Mobley, supra, Taylor v. State, 355 So.2d 160 (3rd DCA 1978).

The mere fact that Ms. Hutchinson silently complied with the officer's request to look into her bag should not be construed to be consent, Ingram v. State, 364 So.2d 821 (4th DCA 1978).

Because the State relies upon consent, an exception to the requirement of a warrant to search, "implicit therein requires a showing that the procurement of a search warrant was not feasible because the exigencies of the situation made that course imperative", Taylor v. State, 355 So.2d 160 (3rd DCA 1978), 183.

The case at hand is analogous to Pirri v. State, 428 So.2d 285 (4th DCA 1983), where the court held that the:

officer could only conduct a carefully limited, self-protective search of the outer clothing . . . to discover the presence of weapons . . . the evidence shows that he was at least de facto in custody. Because of the coercive setting and the officer's failure to notify the Defendant of his right to refuse the search, the Defendant's compliance with the officer's request might possibly be deemed acquiescence to authority, but it certainly does not rise to the level of free and voluntary consent to search. The order under review must, accordingly, be reversed - at 286.

The denial of the motion to suppress should be

reversed. the case at hand is like that of Rosell v. State,
433 So.2d 1260 (1st DCA 1983), where the court held that
"where . . . the State is unable to prove voluntary consent
as opposed to mere submission to apparent authority, the
search will not be upheld", at 1262.

POINT II

IF A PROSECUTING ATTORNEY ENTERS A NOLLE PROSEQUI ON A CASE AFTER JEOPARDY HAS ATTACHED, AND WHILE A MATTER IS PENDING IN THE APPELLATE COURTS, IS THE NOLLE PROSEQUI EFFECTIVE?

Yes. This appears to be a novel situation, and no case directly on point has been found. A case in which the question of a nolle prosequi was addressed was Wilson v. Renfro, 91 So.2d 857 (Fla. 1957). In that case, the prosecutor filed a Motion to Dismiss Information in a DUI/reckless driving case. The trial judge refused to dismiss the case on the DUI, and directed that two additional counts be filed. Appellant appealed to the Circuit Court, which also ruled against him. The matter was then appealed to the Florida Supreme Court on the grounds that the prosecutor's Motion to Dismiss was tantamount to a nolle prosequi, and the County Judge had no authority to deny the Motion to Dismiss. The Florida Supreme Court noted that nolle prosequi translates to "to be unwilling to prosecute", at 859, and that the prosecutor alone has authority to decide whether prosecution should be discontinued prior to the inception of jeopardy. The court held that the Motion to Dismiss was not a nolle prosequi, but did not reach or decide the effect of a nolle prosequi after jeopardy attaches.

"Ordinarily jeopardy attaches upon the entry of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, and its acceptance by the Court . . .", Vinson v. State, 345 So.2d 711, 716 (Fla. 1977).

In State v. Stell, 407 So.2d 642 (Fla 4th DCA 1981), the court held that "the bar against double jeopardy would prevent the state from nol-prossing and refileing an Information after the jury has been sworn", at 643. But, the court did not say the state could not file a nolle prosequi after the jury was sworn if it did not file another information. The court did say that "the state may nolle prosequi information within its discretion at any time subject to the limitations discussed below", at 643. The only one of those limitations that is relevant to the case at hand is the one addressed above. The other relates to speedy trial problems.

The Florida Attorney General issued two opinions in 1958 which are relevant to this issue. The first is the matter of entering a nolle prosequi rests entirely within the discretion of the prosecuting officer, without leave of court, in all stages of a criminal prosecution before the jury is empaneled" Fla. Attorney General Rep. 058-64 (Feb. 21, 1958).

The other is close to being on point:

Nolle prosequi is formal entry on the record by the prosecuting officer by which he declares that he will not prosecute the case further Upon entry on the record, it amounts to a dismissal or nullification of the particular indictment or information and renders nugatory any proceedings carried on subsequently under the same indictment or information.

While this matter has never been judicially resolved in Florida, it would seem to be the better practice to obtain leave of court prior to entering a nolle prosequi after trial has commenced. I find no statute on the subject in

Florida . . . I find no authority that would preclude the prosecuting attorney from attempting to enter a nolle prosequi after the commencement of the case

- Fla. Attorney General Rep. 058-169, May 23, 1958.

It is submitted that the weight of authority, albeit persuasive, is that a prosecuting attorney in Florida has the authority to enter a nolle prosequi, at his discretion, at any stage of the proceedings. It is further submitted that if the nolle prosequi is entered after jeopardy has attached, further prosecution of the matter is barred.

CONCLUSION

The Second District Court of Appeals did not reweigh the evidence in the case at bar, it merely looked to see if there was substantial competent evidence to support the denial of the Motion to Suppress, and found there was none.

Ms. Hutchinson did not freely and voluntarily consent to the search. Her will was overborne and intimidated by the accostment in the dark parking lot by two policemen and a hysterical store manager.

The police engaged in misconduct by:

(a) never informing Ms. Hutchinson of what she was suspected of shoplifting;

(b) not informing Ms. Hutchinson that she had a right to refuse a search;

(c) ordering Ms. Hutchinson to show what was in her purse;

(d) ordering Ms. Hutchinson to go through her purse a second time and open the zippered bags; and

(e) opening Ms. Hutchinson's bag and searching it, as well as opening a closed, opaque container inside - the film canister.